No. 22-CV-657

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLANT,

V.

AMAZON.COM, INC., APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

*CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

JEREMY R. GIRTON Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-2029

*Counsel expected to argue

jeremy.girton@dc.gov

INTRODUCTION

Amazon is the largest internet retail marketplace in the United States, controlling 50% to 70% of all online retail purchases. Amazon wields its enormous market power by requiring its millions of third-party sellers to agree that the listed price on Amazon for any product will be the lowest available, agreements known as most-favored-nations clauses or MFNs. While at first it might seem like MFNs would lower prices for consumers, they in fact do the opposite. Because Amazon has much higher fees than other marketplaces, sellers could profitably charge a lower price on competing websites were it not for Amazon's MFNs. The MFNs establish a price floor tied to Amazon's supracompetitive price, insulating Amazon from competition and harming consumers.

Amazon also buys products wholesale that it then sells retail. Amazon requires its suppliers to agree to "minimum margin agreements," contracts that require the supplier to make up the difference if Amazon fails to realize a particular profit margin on its retail products. These agreements incentivize suppliers to keep the sales price of their goods high on competing online marketplaces like Target and Walmart, to avoid having to pay Amazon enormous true-up fees. The result, much like with Amazon's MFNs, is higher prices across the board.

Like the federal Sherman Act, District law prohibits anticompetitive conduct.

D.C. Code § 28-4502 bans agreements that unreasonably restrain trade and create

higher prices for consumers, and D.C. Code § 28-4503 prohibits creating or attempting to create a monopoly. Amazon's conduct violates both prohibitions. Its MFNs and minimum margin agreements are written contracts that stifle competition and raise prices for consumers. And those agreements have helped Amazon create and maintain a monopoly over online retail sales. The District of Columbia accordingly sued to stop Amazon's anticompetitive conduct.

But the Superior Court perfunctorily dismissed the District's first amended complaint, first in a truncated oral ruling and then in a written denial of a motion to reconsider. Those decisions contain two principal errors.

First, the Superior Court misread caselaw related to what is necessary to allege an *agreement* (which Amazon's written contracts satisfy) and applied it to the *unreasonableness* prong of a restraint-of-trade claim. The court appeared to reason that a written agreement to restrain trade cannot be anticompetitive if it was economically rational for the parties involved. That is not the law. Many agreements are prohibited by antitrust law precisely *because* they are highly beneficial to the conspirators but detrimental to the market and consumers. The Superior Court's ruling conflicts with settled antitrust jurisprudence prohibiting agreements that, even if rational from the conspirators' perspective, unreasonably restrain trade.

Second, the Superior Court ignored or discounted the District's well-pleaded factual allegations. Although the District carefully described each of Amazon's contracts and how they raise consumer prices, the Superior Court waved off these factual allegations as mere conclusions, faulting the District for not naming particular sellers who raised their prices on particular products. But an antitrust plaintiff need not include that level of detail to plausibly allege anticompetitive effects, particularly here where the District logically explained how Amazon's agreements work and where merchants face real concerns of retaliation if they publicly criticize Amazon's behavior.

Nonetheless, faced with the Superior Court's ruling, the District offered a proposed second amended complaint that does include details about particular sellers and how they raised their prices as a result of Amazon's agreements. The Superior Court refused to consider this amended pleading without conducting any analysis of whether the proposed amendments would make the complaint viable. The court's ruling appeared to be based on a mistaken view that it could not grant a motion to amend following dismissal. That is incorrect; a court can (and should) grant a post-judgment motion to amend if the proposed amendment would be viable. The court's failure to consider the factors relevant to amendment was an abuse of discretion.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Superior Court erred in dismissing the District's Section 28-4502 claims alleging that Amazon enters into written contracts with its third-party sellers and suppliers that raise prices across online marketplaces, harm competition, and reduce consumer choice.
- 2. Whether the Superior Court erred in dismissing the District's Section 28-4503 claims alleging that Amazon's anticompetitive conduct insulates its monopoly power or threatens to create a monopoly over online marketplaces.
- 3. Whether the Superior Court abused its discretion when it refused to allow the District to amend its complaint without analyzing any of the factors for permissive amendment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The District filed its original complaint on May 25, 2021 and its first amended complaint on September 10, 2021. JA 1, 3, 10-44. Amazon moved to dismiss, and the Superior Court orally granted that motion on March 18, 2022. JA 45-108, 212-54. On April 14, 2022, the District moved for reconsideration, or, in the alternative, for leave to amend the complaint or a written order of decision. JA 255-317. The Superior Court denied the District's motion on August 1, 2022. JA 361-78. On August 25, 2022, the District timely appealed. JA 379-81.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are drawn from the District's first amended complaint and must be presumed true on a motion to dismiss. *Close It! Title Servs., Inc. v. Nadel*, 248 A.3d 132, 138 (D.C. 2021).

1. Amazon's Contracts With Its Sellers Regarding Price.

Amazon is the largest online retail marketplace in the United States. JA 10-11, 16, 23, 28-29. When shopping online, the vast majority of Americans turn to Amazon first. JA 11, 16-17. Millions of third-party sellers sell products on Amazon; its next largest competitors, Walmart.com and eBay, have only a fraction that many sellers. JA 11, 16, 23, 28-29, 38. It is estimated that a staggering 50-70% of all online retail sales are made through Amazon. JA 10-11, 16, 23, 28-29, 38. By every conceivable measure—consumer visits, products, sellers, sales, or profits—Amazon is the dominant online retail marketplace. JA 11, 16, 23, 28-29, 38.

As an online marketplace, Amazon differs fundamentally from a physical store, and neither consumers nor economists consider online and physical marketplaces to be substitutes. JA 24-27. Unlike a brick-and-mortar store, online retailers have no geographic location, no limits on hours of service, and generally lower overhead and advertising costs. JA 24-27. Even if some of the same products are available on Amazon and in physical stores, the entire consumer experience of shopping online differs from that of shopping in person. JA 25-26.

Amazon generates revenue through the fees and commissions that it charges to its third-party sellers for using its website, which can be as high as 40% of the product's total retail price. JA 12, 20. Amazon's commissions and fees generated over \$80 billion in 2020 alone, making up about 21% of its total corporate revenue. JA 22. Amazon's fees are substantially higher than those of its rivals. JA 21. Unlike Amazon, Walmart.com charges no setup, subscription, or listing fees, only a referral fee on each sale, and significantly lower fulfillment and delivery fees. JA 21. eBay generally charges lower product listing fees and commissions than Amazon. JA 21. Despite its higher fees, Amazon has seen little seller attrition, a testament to its market power. JA 21-22, 31.

Amazon also generates revenue through direct retail sales. Amazon competes directly against more than half of its third-party sellers by offering many products (e.g., batteries, mattresses, lightbulbs, cookware, computer accessories, luggage, exercise equipment, and motor oil, among others), under its own brand names or otherwise. JA 10-11, 23-24, 33, 36. In these product submarkets, Amazon is a retailer in direct competition with the third-party sellers who use Amazon. Amazon thus competes for web traffic and sales against other online multi-seller and single-seller marketplaces, including its third-party sellers' own websites, and against third-party sellers on the Amazon platform itself. JA 10, 23-24.

Amazon fiercely protects its market dominance, including by engaging in anticompetitive practices. JA 11-12. Until at least 2019, Amazon's contracts with its third-party sellers in the United States included a most-favored-nation clause ("MFN") called the "Price Parity Provision." JA 12. This provision expressly prohibited sellers from offering their products through other online marketplaces, including their own websites, at a lower price or on better terms than offered on Amazon's marketplace. JA 12-13. The provision ensured that the consumer price on Amazon for any particular product (which incorporates, and enables the maintenance of, Amazon's high fees and commissions) would be the lowest price for that product online. JA 12. In other words, even if a seller could profitably offer consumers a lower price for a particular product on another marketplace like Walmart.com or its own website, the Price Parity Provision prohibited it from doing so. JA 12.

Under intense scrutiny from regulators, Amazon removed the Price Parity Provision from its U.S. contracts in 2019 but replaced the clause with an effectively identical substitute, the "Fair Pricing Policy." JA 13. Under the Fair Pricing Policy, Amazon may impose sanctions on a seller who engages in any pricing practice that Amazon determines "harms consumer trust," which can include "setting a price on a product" on Amazon "that is significantly higher than recent prices offered on or

off Amazon." JA 17. Sanctions for violating the policy can include cancellation of listings or even banishment of the seller from the Amazon marketplace. JA 17.

The only ostensible difference between the two MFNs is that the Price Parity Provision prohibited sellers from setting a "lower" price on other marketplaces, whereas the Fair Pricing Policy inverts the formula and prohibits sellers from setting a "significantly higher" price on Amazon compared to other marketplaces. But in practice the two MFNs operate in the same way. JA 18, 27. Amazon aggressively enforces the Fair Pricing Policy against sellers who offer products at any price lower than what is offered on Amazon. JA 18. As the policy explicitly acknowledges, "Amazon regularly monitors the prices of items on [its] marketplace . . . and compares them with other prices available to [its] customers." JA 17-18. If Amazon discovers that a seller is offering the same product (or even one that is merely similar) through another channel for less than it is charging on Amazon, it will immediately sanction the seller under the Fair Pricing Policy. JA 19. Sellers "report regularly receiving these types of alerts," and "regularly increase their prices on other online marketplaces in order to avoid these sanctions." JA 18.1

As the complaint explains in detail, one method of punishing third-party sellers who violate the Fair Pricing Policy is by restricting access to the "Buy Box," the white box on the right side of the website containing the familiar "Add to Cart" and "Buy Now" buttons. JA 20. If a seller violates the policy, they can become ineligible to be the seller listed in the Buy Box and instead relegated to a far less

The Price Parity Provision and Fair Pricing Policy restrict competition and hurt consumers by establishing a price floor tied to the Amazon price. Other online marketplaces cannot effectively compete with Amazon by lowering their fees and commissions because doing so would have no effect on the final consumer price for that product, which is pegged to the Amazon price. JA 12. This artificially raises the price of goods to consumers across the internet above competitive levels and enables Amazon to charge sellers higher commissions and fees than it could in a truly competitive market. JA 12, 14, 27. And by inflating prices for particular products across all online marketplaces, the MFNs reduce price competition on Amazon's own retail offerings that directly compete with those products. JA 13, 27.

To illustrate how the MFNs operate in practice, imagine a product that costs a seller \$10.00 to produce, meaning it could profitably sell the product for \$10.01 on its own website. Selling the product on Amazon, however, requires the seller to incur \$4.00 in commissions and fees, so it must charge at least \$14.01. Because of the MFNs, the seller must charge at least \$14.01 for the product across *all* online marketplaces. This means an Amazon rival like Walmart.com cannot effectively

prominent location further down the product page. JA 18. Loss of access to the Buy Box is critical because 82% of all sales are made through the Buy Box and most consumers will not even see the other offers located further down the page. JA 21. The item selected for the Buy Box is frequently not the lowest priced; about three-quarters of the time Amazon selects the product that will generate the most fees for Amazon rather than the one that is the best deal for consumers. JA 21.

draw consumers away by lowering its fees (say, to \$2.00 instead of Amazon's \$4.00) because that lower fee does not result in a lower consumer price. The result is higher prices and less competition among marketplaces. And if the good is a type that Amazon sells itself, it can safely charge a price that appears to the consumer to be competitive (say, \$14.00) but is in reality higher than what a truly competitive price would be absent Amazon's MFNs.

Another of Amazon's anticompetitive practices is its minimum margin agreements that it executes with wholesalers and manufacturers (sometimes called "first-party sellers") who supply products to Amazon for eventual resale. JA 22. Under the minimum margin agreement, suppliers must guarantee that Amazon will recoup a minimum profit margin on the resale of the products; if a sale fails to generate the minimum margin, the supplier must reimburse Amazon the difference. JA 22-23. The typical scenario in which the minimum margin agreement operates is if Amazon discovers the product is available for sale on another online marketplace at a lower price, Amazon will lower its price to match, and any corresponding loss in profit margin will be borne by the supplier. JA 23. This incentivizes suppliers to keep prices high across competing marketplaces (or not offer products to other online marketplaces at all) to avoid owing millions of dollars to Amazon in "true up" payments. JA 23. The complaint alleges that suppliers "have raised their prices to competing online marketplaces to prompt the

maintenance of higher prices on those marketplaces and even asked those marketplaces to raise prices to online consumers to avoid triggering Amazon's minimum margin protection." JA 14. This price inflation further insulates Amazon from competition. JA 23, 27-28.

These anticompetitive agreements directly harm consumers by forcing them to pay higher prices across online marketplaces. JA 34-35. The MFNs and minimum margin agreements also entrench and maintain Amazon's monopoly over online marketplaces, enabling Amazon to charge higher fees and commissions than it would in a truly competitive environment. JA 34-36. They also reduce the incentive for competing online marketplaces to attract sellers through lower fees or greater innovation. JA 34-36.

2. The District Sues To Enjoin Amazon's Anticompetitive Agreements.

In May 2021, the District sued Amazon to enjoin its anticompetitive agreements that unfairly raise prices for consumers. JA 1. After Amazon moved to dismiss the complaint, the District filed its first amended complaint in September 2021. JA 3. The District alleged four violations of the D.C. Antitrust Act: First, Amazon's MFNs (the Price Parity Provision and Fair Pricing Policy) establish Amazon's price as the price floor across online marketplaces, restraining competition in violation of D.C. Code § 28-4502. JA 36-37. Second, Amazon's minimum margin agreements also violate Section 28-4502 by incentivizing

suppliers to keep prices higher on (or not sell to) other online marketplaces to avoid owing "true up" payments to Amazon. JA 37-38. Third, by engaging in these anticompetitive practices, Amazon has illegally maintained a monopoly in violation of D.C. Code § 28-4503. JA 38-39. Fourth, if Amazon has not already obtained monopoly power, its actions evidence an intent to create a monopoly in violation of Section 28-4503. JA 39-41. As relief, the District sought an injunction and a declaratory judgment against Amazon's anticompetitive acts, as well as equitable relief, civil penalties, and damages, as appropriate. JA 41-42.

3. The Superior Court Orally Dismisses The District's Lawsuit.

Amazon moved to dismiss the first amended complaint for failure to state a claim. JA 5. In its motion, Amazon acknowledged the existence of the Price Parity Provision, Fair Pricing Policy, and minimum margin agreements, but argued they were not anticompetitive. *See* JA 58-64. Amazon claimed that the agreements protect consumers from price gouging, despite the District's allegations that the policies result in higher consumer prices across all online marketplaces. JA 58-60. Amazon also argued that the District failed to include physical stores in its definition of the relevant market even though the District explained why physical stores are not substitutes for online marketplaces. JA 64-67. It also contended that the District failed to allege anticompetitive effects, dismissing the District's allegations of higher prices as "conclusory." JA 58-64. Finally, Amazon briefly argued that the

agreements did not qualify as concerted action because Amazon unilaterally set the terms of the agreements. JA 69.

Shortly after Amazon's motion was briefed, a federal district court in Washington state declined to dismiss federal and state antitrust claims against Amazon that challenge the same MFNs as the District's suit. See Frame-Wilson v. Amazon.com, Inc., 591 F. Supp. 3d 975, 988-94 (W.D. Wash. 2022). The Frame-Wilson court treated as undisputed that Amazon's MFNs with sellers satisfied the "agreement" requirement of a restraint-of-trade claim. See id. at 984, 988. It held that the "ecommerce retail market" was a plausible market for antitrust purposes and that the plaintiffs had plausibly alleged that Amazon's MFNs create anticompetitive effects in that market. Id. at 988-92. Because Amazon's fees and commissions "are built into the product cost on the Amazon.com platform," requiring that price to be the lowest available effectively "requires sellers to add Amazon's fees to the cost of their products when they sell them on all external platforms." *Id.* at 991. It was thus plausible that Amazon's MFNs "raise the cost of products on external platforms that charge lower fees than Amazon" in violation of federal and state antitrust laws. Id.

The District notified the Superior Court of the *Frame-Wilson* decision and urged it to apply the same analysis to deny Amazon's motion to dismiss. JA 175-77.²

The Superior Court orally granted Amazon's motion to dismiss. The court acknowledged that the Fair Pricing Policy restricted sellers from setting a price on Amazon that is significantly higher than on other online marketplaces. JA 237 ("There are limits regarding higher prices."), 238 ("[T]he only limit is that they cannot set a price [on Amazon] that is significantly higher than recent prices offered on or off Amazon."). However, the court seemed to reason that this requirement did not operate as a price floor because the policy did not expressly "refer[] to a floor." JA 238. The court stated that it did not "agree" that prohibiting sellers from *raising* prices on Amazon by definition also prohibits sellers from *lowering* them on other marketplaces relative to Amazon's price. JA 239.

The court also acknowledged that there was "no dispute here that there was an agreement" between Amazon and its sellers, but nonetheless read the Supreme Court's decisions in *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662 (2009), and *Bell Atlantic Corp*.

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