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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The Superior Court correctly applied the standard announced in *Iqbal* and *Twombly*, which this court has adopted, to determine whether the District stated a claim on which relief could be granted. That standard applies to all civil actions and to all the elements of a legal claim, and it required the Superior Court to discount legal conclusions pleaded as facts; to ignore conclusory allegations lacking in specific factual content; and to determine whether the remaining well-pleaded allegations establish a *plausible*—not just *possible*—claim for relief. The Superior Court applied the correct standard, and it correctly concluded that the District failed to allege a plausible antitrust violation.

II. Applying that standard on de novo review, this court should affirm.

A. Initially, the Superior Court correctly held that the District failed to make plausible allegations that any of Amazon’s three challenged practices—the Fair Pricing Policy, the former Parity Provision, or the Margin Agreements—are agreements to restrain trade. *First*, the Fair Pricing Policy prohibits third-party sellers from engaging in price gouging (or other deceptive practices) in Amazon’s store; it is not an agreement between Amazon and third-party sellers to establish a “price floor” in all of e-commerce. *Second*, the former Parity Provision required third-party sellers in Amazon’s store to offer *low* prices for consumers shopping in the store. It is not anticompetitive for a retailer such as Amazon to insist that sellers do not discriminate against Amazon’s customers by charging them higher prices.

Third, the Margin Agreements establish wholesale prices Amazon pays for products it purchases from its suppliers; negotiating for lower prices in the form of margin “true up” payments is just as legal as negotiating for lower prices. Moreover, the District alleges that Amazon is entitled to such margin payments when Amazon *lowers* prices for consumers.

Fourth, to the extent the District characterizes these agreements as “horizontal pricing agreements” that are “per se illegal” simply because Amazon sometimes sells the same products as third-party sellers, the District abandoned that claim in its amended complaint. The claim fails anyway because the challenged policies are not in the category of price or supply agreements that, because of decades of experience, courts condemn without further consideration. To the contrary, the District does not cite a single case where a court has condemned a retailer for offering consumers the best prices in its retail store. Moreover, the millions of individual agreements here between Amazon and sellers are vertical arrangements or, at a minimum, partially vertical arrangements to which the rule of reason applies.

B. In addition, the Superior Court correctly held that the District failed to make plausible allegations of anticompetitive effects in a relevant market—a necessary element of the District’s restraint of trade, monopolization, and attempted-monopolization claims. The District’s argument assumes that Amazon’s suppliers and third-party sellers have the market power to raise prices “across the internet,” Br. 9, but the District has not even tried to allege that any particular supplier or third-party

seller has market power to set anything other than a competitive price. The District has also made no effort to identify any specific supplier or third-party seller, any product sold by a seller, or any product that is priced at a supracompetitive level. Other than conclusory allegations, the District has not alleged specifics of any type to allege an anticompetitive effect. The complaint is lacking in any well-pleaded allegations that would allow a court to plausibly infer anticompetitive harm, and therefore the Superior Court correctly dismissed all of the District's claims on that basis.

III. The Superior Court correctly denied leave to amend. A motion for leave to amend a complaint cannot be granted after judgment is issued unless a plaintiff first establishes that the court should grant a motion to amend the judgment. *See* D.C. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 59(e). The Superior Court's oral ruling was a dismissal of the complaint with prejudice; there was therefore no longer a complaint to amend. *Johnson v. District of Columbia*, 244 F.R.D. 1, 4-5 (D.D.C. 2007), *aff'd in part*, 552 F.3d 806 (D.C. Cir. 2008). In any event, granting leave to amend would be futile; the District's few additional allegations do not cure the deficiencies in the operative complaint.

For these reasons, the orders of the Superior Court dismissing the District's claims with prejudice and denying leave to amend should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE SUPERIOR COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT STANDARD IN DISMISSING THE DISTRICT'S CLAIMS.

The District's lead argument on appeal incorrectly contends that the Superior Court misapplied the standard the Supreme Court set forth in *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662 (2009), and *Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007), when dismissing its complaint. Br. 35-37.

A. As the Superior Court correctly explained, the Supreme Court has held that “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face” and to allow “the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678; *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 556, 570. That standard applies to all civil actions. *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 684. And this court has squarely held that the standard announced in *Iqbal* and *Twombly* governs the application of the Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure. See *Bereston v. UHS of Del., Inc.*, 180 A.3d 95, 99 (D.C. 2018); *Sundberg v. TTR Realty, LLC*, 109 A.3d 1123, 1129 (D.C. 2015).

Accordingly, *Iqbal* and *Twombly* establish the standard here for determining whether the District successfully stated a claim for relief under the District of Columbia's antitrust laws.⁴ The Superior Court was required to disregard allegations

⁴ The Attorney General of the District of Columbia suggested in congressional testimony that its complaint in this case was based on the investigation it had con-

asserting a “legal conclusion couched as a factual allegation,” *Twombly*, 550 U.S. at 555, as well as any “conclusory allegation” that baldly asserts the elements of a cause of action, *Bereston*, 180 A.3d at 99. And in determining whether it could “infer” from the remaining well-pleaded factual allegations that the claim crossed the line from “possible” to “plausible,” the Superior Court could draw on its “judicial experience and common sense.” *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

B. Despite this body of law, the District and some of its amici contend that “*Twombly*’s plausibility discussion has no application to this case” and that the Superior Court erred by “transposing *Twombly*’s discussion of parallel conduct to the second element of the claim, whether the agreement was anticompetitive.” Br. 35-36; *see also* Antitrust Law Professors and Economists Br. 8 (suggesting that “*Twombly* is inapplicable here”).⁵ This argument would require this court to reject

ducted. *See* Promoting Competition, Growth, and Privacy Protection in the Technology Sector: Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Fiscal Responsibility and Economic Growth, 117th Cong. (December 7, 2021) (statement of Karl A. Racine).

Given that States and the District can investigate suspected violations of law and, if desired, request documents through civil investigative demands and subpoenas, there is no need for a State or the District to file complaints that lack sufficient detail to state a plausible claim for relief. *See* Br. of Virginia et al. at 14-15, *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) (No. 05-1126), 2006 WL 2503552.

⁵ Before *Twombly* and *Iqbal* settled any debate over those pleading standards, numerous amici supported the standards established there, including the American Bar Association, a group of legal scholars, and the American Petroleum Institute. *E.g.*, Br. for American Bar Association, *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) (No. 05-1126), 2006 WL 2503551; Br. of Legal Scholars, *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) (No. 05-1126), 2006 WL 2474080; Br. for American

both its own holdings and those of the Supreme Court, and it would transform the District into a haven for complaints based on conclusory and implausible allegations.

One would expect the District to know and acknowledge established law. The argument that *Twombly* has “no application,” Br. 35, to an element of an antitrust or any other claim has been rejected by both the Supreme Court and this court. The Supreme Court’s decisions in *Iqbal* and *Twombly* are based on an “interpretation and application of Rule 8” of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which applies “in all civil actions and proceedings in the United States district courts.” *Iqbal*, 556 U.S. at 684. The standard announced in those cases also applies in the District of Columbia. *See Potomac Dev. Corp. v. District of Columbia*, 28 A.3d 531, 544 (D.C. 2011) (holding that, pursuant “to D.C. Code § 11-946, we interpret Superior Court Rule 8(a) to include this plausibility standard”). To state a “plausible claim for relief” under those decisions, a plaintiff must plausibly allege each of the *elements* of the claim with well-pleaded facts. *See Chamberlain v. Am. Honda Fin. Corp.*, 931 A.2d 1018, 1023 (D.C. 2007) (“a complaint still must contain either direct or inferential allegations respecting all the material elements necessary to sustain a recovery under some viable legal theory”).⁶

Petroleum Institute, *Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly*, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) (No. 05-1126), 2006 WL 2474078.

⁶ The federal courts of appeals have consistently applied the pleading standard announced in *Twombly* and *Iqbal* in assessing whether plaintiffs have stated other elements of antitrust claims. *See, e.g., Spinelli v. Nat’l Football League*, 903 F.3d 185, 212 (2d Cir. 2018); *Prime Healthcare Servs., Inc. v. Serv. Emps. Int’l Union*,

The District also suggests that the Superior Court misapplied “*Twombly*’s discussion of parallel conduct”; it asserts that, where concerted conduct is alleged, *Twombly*’s requirements concerning the pleading of parallel conduct are inapplicable, and the Superior Court erred by applying that discussion “to the second element of the claim, whether the agreement was anticompetitive.” Br. 36. The objection appears to be that the Superior Court misunderstood the substantive holding of *Twombly* and held that “a written agreement is not anticompetitive just because the same conduct theoretically could have occurred without an agreement.” *Id.*

That argument is also incorrect. When the Superior Court referenced “lawful, unchoreographed free-market behavior,” JA 370, it was rejecting the District’s speculative assertion that the agreements between third-party sellers and Amazon set a “price floor.” JA 369 (quoting JA 36). The Superior Court had already explained that there is nothing in the “fair policy agreement that refers to a floor,” JA 238, and the District utterly failed to allege any facts demonstrating that the written policy reveals a “conscious commitment” to “an unlawful objective,” *Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Serv. Corp.*, 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984).⁷ The Superior Court also explained why the agreements did not have any anticompetitive effects: it is “equally

642 F. App’x 665, 666-67 (9th Cir. 2016); *Brantley v. NBC Universal, Inc.*, 675 F.3d 1192, 1202 (9th Cir. 2012); *Jacobs v. Tempur-Pedic Int’l, Inc.*, 626 F.3d 1327, 1338-40 (11th Cir. 2010).

⁷ The District’s reference to *Robertson v. Sea Pines Real Estate Cos.*, 679 F.3d 278 (4th Cir. 2012), is inapposite for the same reason. Br. 36. There, the Fourth Circuit stated that “*Twombly*’s requirements with respect to allegations of illegal

likely” that prices on other competing online marketplaces would be established by normal market activities—i.e., by “lawful” and “unchoreographed free-market behavior.” JA 369-70. In light of that alternative explanation, the District’s “repeated assertion” that there was a price floor could not satisfy the plausibility standard. JA 370.

II. THE DISTRICT FAILED TO ALLEGE A PLAUSIBLE ANTITRUST VIOLATION.

Applying the standard in *Iqbal* and *Twombly*, the Superior Court correctly concluded that the District failed to allege plausible antitrust violations. *See* JA 252-53, 371, 374, 376. This court reviews that decision de novo. *See, e.g., Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 228 (D.C. 2011) (en banc).⁸

parallel conduct are inapplicable where” the “concerted conduct is not a matter of inference or dispute.” *Robertson*, 679 F.3d at 290. But all of the defendants had agreed to “develop, implement, enact, and facilitate the enforcement of” certain rules governing their joint venture that arguably restrained trade. *Id.* at 289. In this case, whether there is illegal concerted conduct is in dispute. While there are millions of agreements between Amazon and sellers, these agreements do not establish a “conscious commitment” to “an unlawful objective,” *Monsanto*, 465 U.S. at 764, rather than the permissible “establishment or enforcement” of legal terms by Amazon, *Toscano v. Pro. Golfers Ass’n*, 258 F.3d 978, 984 (9th Cir. 2001).

⁸ Amazon also argued below that the District’s claims failed because it did not allege a facially plausible market. JA 64-67. As the District acknowledges, antitrust claims may be dismissed at the pleading stage if the “market definition is facially unsustainable.” Br. 27; *see also Newcal Indus., Inc. v. Ikon Off. Sols.*, 513 F.3d 1038, 1045 (9th Cir. 2008); *Queen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza, Inc.*, 124 F.3d 430, 436 (3d Cir. 1997). Amazon argued below that the District’s proposed market of “online retail marketplaces,” Br. 27, was implausibly gerrymandered. As the Supreme Court has explained, a relevant market must include all products “reasonably interchangeable by consumers for the same purposes,” *United States v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 351 U.S. 377, 395 (1956), and thus it makes no sense to exclude

A. The District Failed To Make Plausible Allegations Of An Agreement To Restrain Trade.

A violation of D.C. Code § 28-4502 (like a violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act) requires a showing that the alleged conspirators “had a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective.” *Monsanto*, 465 U.S. at 764. To plead a violation of § 28-4502, a plaintiff must allege not just that there is an “agreement” of some kind, but that the agreement involves a “conscious commitment” to a scheme that would violate the antitrust laws—that is, an agreement to raise prices or restrict output. *Id.* at 764-65; *see also Texaco Inc. v. Dagher*, 547 U.S. 1, 5 (2006) (the agreement must be an “*unreasonable*” restraint of trade (emphasis in original)).

Though the District spends much of its brief arguing that it has identified “express, written contracts,” Br. 24-25, that argument misses the point because the District has failed to identify an agreement with the unlawful objective *to restrain trade*. *See Procaps S.A. v. Patheon, Inc.*, 845 F.3d 1072, 1081 (11th Cir. 2016) (explaining that the “simple existence of the contract . . . standing alone” does not “satisfy

brick-and-mortar retail stores from the market when consumers can purchase similar or even identical products whether they shop online or in a physical store, or to include in a single product market products as far ranging as refrigerators and basketballs that are not reasonably interchangeable. JA 64-65. The Superior Court did not rule on the argument that the District failed to identify a plausible product market because it dismissed all of the District’s claims on other grounds. JA 252-53. But if this court reverses the Superior Court’s order dismissing all of the District’s claims, or any portion of the order denying leave to amend, Amazon intends to renew this argument on remand.

the concerted action requirement”). Critically, the District does not allege any agreement between Amazon and other multi-seller online marketplaces (like eBay or Walmart.com), which might (if plausibly alleged) constitute a horizontal agreement among competitors. Nor does the District allege any agreement among third-party retailers in competition with one another to fix prices (or otherwise restrain trade) at the direction of Amazon; this case thus differs from a “hub-and-spokes conspiracy” in which many entities at one level of a supply chain (the “rim”) agree to restrain trade at the direction or instigation of one entity at another level (the “hub”). See *Marion Diagnostic Ctr., LLC v. Becton Dickinson & Co.*, 952 F. 3d 832, 841-42 (2020); see also *Howard Hess Dental Labs. Inc. v. Dentsply Int’l, Inc.*, 602 F.3d 237, 254-55 (3rd Cir. 2010) (requiring plausible allegations that there was “an agreement among” the many entities on the “rim” of the conspiracy).

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